1
2 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

3 CAREY HUMPHRIES; AND)
4 LORENZO ROCHA, III,)

5 *Appellants,*)

6 vs.)

7 NEW YORK-NEW YORK HOTEL &)
8 CASINO,)

9 *Respondent.*)

Electronically Filed
Jan 26 2015 03:31 p.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court Case No. 65316
District Court A-11-641181-C

10 **APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF**

11 DRUMMOND FIRM, P.C.
12 Craig W. Drummond, Esq.
13 Nevada Bar No. 011109
14 228 South Fourth St., First Floor
15 Las Vegas, NV 89101
16 T: (702) 366-9966
17 F: (702) 508-9440
18 craig@drummondfirm.com
19 *Attorneys for Plaintiff*

20 HOF LAND & TOMSHECK
Joshua Tomsheck, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 009210

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Whether the district court erred in finding that the attack on the Plaintiffs was not foreseeable when it only analyzed the knowledge by the Defendant of the actual attacker in this case and failed to consider or analyze the admissions by the Defendant, and the incident reports of other fights and previous altercations on the Defendant's premises;
- II. Whether the district court erred in finding Defendant owed no duty to Plaintiffs where Defendant wholly failed to exercise due care for Plaintiffs' safety due to Defendant's inadequate security policies and procedures;
- III. Whether the district court erred in finding Defendant owed no duty to Plaintiffs where Defendant failed to take reasonable precautions to protect Plaintiffs from a foreseeable vicious attack.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is an appeal from the grant of summary judgment in favor of Defendant New York-New York Hotel & Casino. On May 12, 2011, Plaintiffs filed a Complaint against Defendant based on theories of negligent security for a vicious attack on Plaintiffs that occurred on Defendant's premises. [Vol I App. at 0001-0006] The Defendant filed an Answer denying all liability. [Vol I App. at 0007-0012] After significant litigation at the District Court level regarding the need for the Plaintiffs to sue an intentional tortfeasor and a negligent tortfeasor, the District Court ruling in favor of the Defendant, this Honorable Court thereafter held oral argument and granted a *Writ of Mandamus* in favor of Plaintiffs holding that the third party intentional tortfeasor was not a necessary and indispensable party to this action and issued its published decision in Humphries v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 129 Adv. Op. 85 (November 7, 2013).

Once the case was remanded back to the district court, Plaintiffs then moved for summary judgment on December 2, 2013 on a number of areas related to liability and damages. [Vol II App. At 0013-0110]. Specifically, summary judgment was requested on the following areas:

- 1.) That the attack on Plaintiffs on April 10, 2010 at New York-New York Hotel & Casino was foreseeable;

1 2.) That the Defendant failed to take reasonable precautions
2 against the foreseeable wrongful act;

3 3.) That the Defendant had a duty to exercise due care for the
4 safety of the Plaintiffs on their premises and failed to perform
5 that duty;

6 4.) That there were prior incidents of similar wrongful acts
7 occurred on the premises;

8 5.) That the Defendant had notice or knowledge of those
9 incidents; and

10 6.) That the Plaintiffs were injured as a result of the attack.

11 [Vol I App. at 0013]

12 The request for summary judgment was largely based on unobjected to
13 admissions by the Defendant's Corporate Designee at his deposition, the
14 exhibits discussed by the Corporate Designee at his deposition outlining
15 knowledge of previous fights, the evidence of a lack of adequate security, and
16 no evidence to contradict the Plaintiffs' injuries. Id. Defendant filed an
17 Opposition and Counter-motion for Summary Judgment on December 19,
18 2013. [Vol II App. at 0111-0258] The district court held a hearing on January
19 29, 2014. [Vol II App. at 0291-0309] The Court thereafter entered summary
20 judgment in favor of Defendant on March 4, 2014, finding that Defendant
21 owed no duty to Plaintiffs because they were not on notice that the specific
22 intentional tortfeasor in this case would attack the Plaintiffs and because it
23 exercised reasonable care for Plaintiffs' safety. [Vol II App. at 0276-0280]
24 Plaintiffs filed a timely Notice of Appeal to this Court on April 1, 2014. [Vol
25 II App. at 0288-0290]

Ferrell then introduced himself and began to flirt with and hit on Ms. Humphries. Id. Ms. Humphries declined his advances, and he thereafter made a lewd sexual comment to her. [Vol 1 App. at 0071] Ms. Humphries then asked “How dare you speak to me like that?” Id. at 0071 [Depo. Humphries, 87] Ms. Humphries then made a “spitting gesture” – “I just did the gesture and turned and walked away in utter disgust.” Id. [Depo. Humphries, 87]

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is an appeal from the grant of summary judgment in favor of Defendant New York-New York Hotel & Casino. On May 12, 2011, Plaintiffs filed a Complaint against Defendant based on theories of negligent security for a vicious attack on Plaintiffs that occurred on Defendant's premises. [Vol I App. at 0001-0006] The Defendant filed an Answer denying all liability. [Vol I App. at 0007-0012] After significant litigation at the District Court level regarding the need for the Plaintiffs to sue an intentional tortfeasor and a negligent tortfeasor, the District Court ruling in favor of the Defendant, this Honorable Court thereafter held oral argument and granted a *Writ of Mandamus* in favor of Plaintiffs holding that the third party intentional tortfeasor was not a necessary and indispensable party to this action and issued its published decision in Humphries v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 129 Adv. Op. 85 (November 7, 2013).

Once the case was remanded back to the district court, Plaintiffs then moved for summary judgment on December 2, 2013 on a number of areas related to liability and damages. [Vol II App. At 0013-0110]. Specifically, summary judgment was requested on the following areas:

- 1.) That the attack on Plaintiffs on April 10, 2010 at New York-New York Hotel & Casino was foreseeable;

1 2.) That the Defendant failed to take reasonable precautions
2 against the foreseeable wrongful act;

3 3.) That the Defendant had a duty to exercise due care for the
4 safety of the Plaintiffs on their premises and failed to perform
5 that duty;

6 4.) That there were prior incidents of similar wrongful acts
7 occurred on the premises;

8 5.) That the Defendant had notice or knowledge of those
9 incidents; and

10 6.) That the Plaintiffs were injured as a result of the attack.

11 [Vol I App. at 0013]

12 The request for summary judgment was largely based on unobjected to
13 admissions by the Defendant's Corporate Designee at his deposition, the
14 exhibits discussed by the Corporate Designee at his deposition outlining
15 knowledge of previous fights, the evidence of a lack of adequate security, and
16 no evidence to contradict the Plaintiffs' injuries. Id. Defendant filed an
17 Opposition and Counter-motion for Summary Judgment on December 19,
18 2013. [Vol II App. at 0111-0258] The district court held a hearing on January
19 29, 2014. [Vol II App. at 0291-0309] The Court thereafter entered summary
20 judgment in favor of Defendant on March 4, 2014, finding that Defendant
21 owed no duty to Plaintiffs because they were not on notice that the specific
22 intentional tortfeasor in this case would attack the Plaintiffs and because it
23 exercised reasonable care for Plaintiffs' safety. [Vol II App. at 0276-0280]
24 Plaintiffs filed a timely Notice of Appeal to this Court on April 1, 2014. [Vol
25 II App. at 0288-0290]
26
27
28

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the weekend of April 10, 2010, Plaintiffs Carey Humphries, a teacher from California, and Lorenzo Rocha, a firefighter-paramedic from California, ("Plaintiffs," collectively) were patrons and hotel guests of Defendant New York-New York Hotel & Casino ("Defendant" or hereinafter). [Depo. Rocha, attached hereto at Vol I App. at 0036-0048; Depo. Humphries, attached hereto at Vol I App. at 0050-0081] On that date, at approximately three in the morning (3:00am), Ms. Humphries was walking through the casino floor, where she walked by a woman accompanying one Erik Ferrell ("Ferrell" hereinafter). [Depo. of Glenn Nulle, Defendant's Corporate Designee, attached hereto at Vol I App. at 0083-0101] Ms. Humphries stopped and spoke to the woman, an apparent companion of Ferrell's. [Vol I App. at 0070] Ms. Humphries complimented her outfit, and the two began to exchange pleasantries. Id.

Ferrell then introduced himself and began to flirt with and hit on Ms. Humphries. Id. Ms. Humphries declined his advances, and he thereafter made a lewd sexual comment to her. [Vol 1 App. at 0071] Ms. Humphries then asked "How dare you speak to me like that?" Id. at 0071 [Depo. Humphries, 87] Ms. Humphries then made a "spitting gesture" – "I just did the gesture and turned and walked away in utter disgust." Id. [Depo. Humphries, 87]

1 Ferrell then punched Ms. Humphries multiple times, attacking her viciously.
2 [Vol I App. at 0071-0072] Plaintiff Rocha intervened to protect Ms.
3 Humphries and was also viciously attacked. [Vol I App. at 0043]. The entire
4 attack went on for approximately 12 to 15 seconds in the middle of the casino
5 floor before security, who for at least some time stood by and watched,
6 actually intervened. [Vol I App. at 0089]
7

8
9 As a result of the vicious and prolonged attack, Ms. Humphries
10 suffered from a skull fracture, loose fluid in her brain, two black eyes, scar
11 tissue in her mouth, eyebrow ridge, and nose, and continues to suffer from
12 severe headaches. [Vol I App. at 0071, 0078, 0080.] Mr. Rocha also suffered
13 extensive injuries, including severe pain and headaches. [Vol I App. at 0043].
14 Based on this incident, Plaintiffs filed suit against Defendant on May 12,
15 2011.
16

17
18 On May 8, 2012, Plaintiffs' took the deposition of Mr. Glenn Nulle.
19 [Vol I App. at 0083] Mr. Nulle was specifically designated and produced by
20 Defendant in accordance with Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure "NRCP"
21 30(b)(6) as **"the officer, director or manager with the most knowledge of**
22 **security, crime prevention and assaults and batteries of any employees,**
23 **patrons or guests during the time period of April 10th, 2008 to April**
24 **10th, 2010 for the premises of the New York-New York Hotel &**
25
26
27
28

1 **Casino.”** [Bold emphasis added] [Vol I App. at 0085] Additionally, Mr.
2 Nulle formally acknowledged that he was such person with the most
3 knowledge about the subject incident and security for the Defendant. [Vol I
4 App. at 0086] When questioned about the Defendant’s knowledge of the
5 subject incident, he responded as follows:
6
7

8
9 Q. All right. What are you -- what is your knowledge of the
10 event regarding my client, Carey Humphries, in April 10th,
11 2010?

12 A. My knowledge of the event. Ms. Humphries was walking
13 through the casino when she went over to address another patron,
14 allegedly complementing her. Some words were exchanged. I
15 don't know exactly what was exchanged. Allegedly she spit in
16 this guy's face, and **he gave her a beating.** (Emphasis added)

17 [Vol I App. at 0087, Depo. Nulle 17: 14-22]

18 When Mr. Nulle, was questioned regarding the supposed swiftness of
19 Defendant’s security response and action while Plaintiffs were being
20 attacked, Mr. Nulle testified that only one (1) security officer initially
21 responded to the attack and then simply stood back and watched Petitioner
22 Carey Humphries be attacked:
23

24 Q. And when you witnessed him standing back, did you also
25 witness Patron Humphries continue to get attacked?

26 A. I did.
27
28

1 Q. Okay. And do you know approximately how many seconds
2 went by while he stood back and watched her get attacked?

3 A. I recall 12 to 15 seconds.

4 [Vol I App. at 0089, Depo. Nulle 24: 5-11]
5

6 Security responded, and then stood back and watched Petitioner
7 Humphries continue to be attacked in the middle of the casino floor.
8 Providing further evidence of Defendant's own negligence is the fact that
9 Defendant had absolutely no idea how many people would be on their
10 approximately 85,000 square foot casino floor during a similar Saturday
11 night, such as the one in question. [Vol I App. at 0090, Depo. Nulle 28:17-
12 20] Additionally, Defendant testified that they did not even know the
13 number of security personnel that were necessary to ensure their premises
14 were safe:
15
16
17
18

19 Q. Do you know how many security personnel are necessary for
20 your casino floor to ensure the premises are safe for patrons?

21 A. I don't have a number, no.

22 [Vol I App. at 0090, Depo. Nulle 29:15-18]
23

24 Without having any idea how many security personnel were needed to
25 keep an 85,000 square foot casino floor safe, and with an unknown number
26 of patrons within that 85,000 square feet, Defendant chose to keep only
27 three security personnel on the casino floor:
28

1 Q. Okay. And the only personnel actually assigned to be within
2 the vicinity would be these three security personnel?

3 A. Correct. They would be on the immediate casino floor.

4 [Vol I App. at 0093, Depo. Nulle 40:21-25]

5 Notably, in addition to occurring on the actual casino floor, the attack
6 occurred within 200 feet of a nightclub. [Vol I App. at 0093, Depo. Nulle
7 40:4-8] In addition to occurring on the actual casino floor near a nightclub,
8 there was a bar near the location where the Plaintiffs were attacked. [Vol I
9 App. at 0096, Depo. Nulle 53:16-17] In admission of the clear
10 foreseeability of the attack on Plaintiffs, Defendant's designee stated that as
11 many as two to three fights per week occurred on Defendant's casino floor
12 location alone:
13
14
15

16 Q. And you've testified previously, sir, that it's foreseeable that
17 fights can occur on your casino floor, right, sir?

18 A. Uh-huh.

19 Q. And in fact I -- is that a yes?

20 A. Yes.

21 Q. In fact, I've been provided multiple other fights that have
22 occurred on your casino floor during this litigation. Are you
23 aware of that?

24 A. No.

25 Q. Could you to your understanding tell us how many fights have
26 occurred on the casino floor at New York-New York in 2010?

27 A. I don't have that number.

28 Q. Can you give us your best estimate? One a month?

A. I wish.

1 Q. Okay. Well then can you please elaborate for us sir?

2 A. I would say two to three a week.

3 [Vol I App. at 0096, Depo. Nulle 53:18-54:11]

4 Moreover, Defendant has admitted that the attack on Plaintiffs, or at
5 least the extent of the attack, could have been limited with adequate
6 security:
7

8 Q. You would agree with me that if there was more security
9 personnel on the floor, that the fight or at least the extent of the
10 fight could have been limited?

11 A. If there was more security officers in that area, yes.

12 [Vol I App. at 0097, Depo. Nulle 57:2-6]

13 In evidence before the district court at the time of the Plaintiff's
14 Motion for Summary Judgment and the Defendant's Counter-motion were
15 several incident reports attached as exhibits to Defendant's Counter-Motion
16 for Summary Judgment for the period from May 1, 2009 to April 10, 2010.

17 [Vol II App. 0205-0251 - Exhibit. H] As discussed below, these incident
18 reports further outline the multiple fights and incidents that regularly
19 occurrs on the Defendant's premises.
20

21 It is with the above admitted facts from Defendant's corporate
22 designee that Plaintiffs moved the district court for summary judgment on
23 the issue of negligence.
24
25
26
27
28

1 In the Defendant's Counter-motion they admitted that in addition to
2 the above admitted testimonial facts, that Plaintiffs had retained and
3 disclosed an expert security witness [Vol II App. 0253-0258] This expert
4 witness would offer opinions at trial as outlined in his disclosed report, to
5 include that given all of the past activities that the event and attack was
6 foreseeable by definition, and that the training programs, policies, and
7 staffing levels at the time of the incident in question were not adequate to
8 provide reasonable security. Id.

12 SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

14 Given the admissions by the Defendant Corporate Designee at his
15 deposition about prior security incidents, the lack of reasonable security
16 personnel on hand, and the written prior incident reports, the district court
17 erred in denying the Plaintiff's summary judgment. Further, the district court
18 clearly erred in granting a Counter-motion for Summary Judgment on behalf
19 of the Defendant.

22 For innkeepers such as Defendant, a duty is imposed for third party
23 harms to a plaintiff if that conduct was foreseeable and the innkeeper failed to
24 take reasonable precautions to prevent it. Moreover, Nevada law defines third
25 party actions as "foreseeable" in this context if prior similar incidents of
26
27
28

1 conduct gave the innkeeper notice of the risk or if the innkeeper failed to
2 exercise due care for a plaintiff's safety overall.
3

4 Although glaringly left unaddressed by the district court in its decision,
5 prior similar incidents of fistfights and batteries at Defendant's property
6 provided sufficient notice of Ferrell's conduct and made that conduct
7 foreseeable. This was admitted without objection by the Defendant's
8 Corporate Designee when he stated "two to three" fights occur each week on
9 the casino floor. Further, the incident reports Defendant produced show that
10 fistfights and patron-patron altercations occurred *throughout* the Defendant's
11 property, not merely the area in which Plaintiffs were attacked. The incidents
12 are sufficiently similar to Plaintiffs' attack to make that attack foreseeable
13 because the levels of violence involved are similar and the same security
14 issues are implicated. The widespread nature of those prior similar incidents
15 made the attack on Plaintiffs foreseeable and imposed a duty upon Defendant.
16
17
18
19
20

21 Moreover, even if prior incidents are insufficiently similar to make
22 Plaintiffs' attack foreseeable, Defendant still owed a duty to Plaintiffs because
23 it failed to exercise due care for Plaintiffs' safety. The totality of the
24 circumstances surrounding Plaintiffs' attack show a lack of due care on
25 Defendant's part. Only about twenty security officers were on duty at the time
26 of Plaintiffs' attack, five of which were stationed on the casino floor and only
27
28

1 three there to actually provide anything close to patron security. Additionally,
2 the primary stated role of Defendant's security is stated to be customer
3 service. Security officers are generally required to remain at particular posts
4 unless given permission to move and several of the officers on duty at the
5 time of Plaintiffs' attack were escorting money and not permitted to act
6 outside that role except in dire circumstances.
7

8
9 Defendant has also failed to conduct any sort of audit or inquiry into
10 how many security officers are needed to secure its approximately 85,000
11 square feet of space. Overall, Defendant wholly failed to exercise due care for
12 the safety of its patrons in light of its enormous size and expanse. These same
13 factors lead to the conclusion that Defendant also failed to take reasonable
14 precautions for Plaintiffs' safety. Therefore, Defendant owed a duty to
15 Plaintiffs and the court below erred in finding summary judgment in favor of
16 Defendant.
17
18
19
20

21 **ARGUMENT**

22 **STANDARD OF REVIEW AND INTRODUCTION**

23
24 This appeal involves issues of the District Court's conclusions with
25 regard to whether Defendant owed a duty to Plaintiffs under Nevada law,
26 specifically Nev. Rev. Statutes ("NRS") § 651.015. This Court reviews such
27 conclusions, including those of statutory construction, *de novo*. See e.g.
28

1 Martinez v. Maruszczak, 123 Nev. 433, 168 P.3d 720 (2007). Further,
2 regarding any factual findings by a district court, this court reviews a district
3 court's grant of summary judgment de novo, without deference to the findings
4 of the lower court. Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 P.3d 1026, 121 Nev. 724
5 (2005).
6
7

8 Nevada law imposes a duty upon innkeepers to protect patrons from
9 wrongful conduct that was: (1) foreseeable; and (2) against which an
10 innkeeper fails to take reasonable precautions. NRS § 651.015. Nevada law
11 further defines an act to be foreseeable if (1) the innkeeper has notice of prior
12 similar incidents that have occurred on the premises; or (2) the innkeeper
13 failed to exercise due care for the plaintiff's safety. NRS § 651.015(3). In its
14 Order, the district court below found there was no duty because Defendant
15 exercised due care for Plaintiffs' safety. [Vol II App. 278-280] The court did
16 not, however, explicitly address whether prior similar instances of other third
17 party conduct at New York-New York ("NYNY" or "Defendant" hereinafter)
18 Casino made Ferrell's acts foreseeable and therefore created a duty. Id. As
19 will be further explained below, there were a plethora of prior similar
20 incidences that made Ferrell's acts foreseeable and imposed a duty upon
21 Defendant to ensure Plaintiffs' safety. Moreover, even if there were no
22 sufficient prior similar incidents, Defendant still failed to take reasonable
23
24
25
26
27
28

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