1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA					
2						
3	CAREY HUMPHRIES; AND LOREZO ROCHA, III. Supreme Court Case No. 65316 Electronically File	be				
4	Appellants Mar 27 2015 09:	08 a.m.				
5	vs. Tracie K. Linderr Clerk of Supreme					
6 7	NEW YORK-NEW YORK HOTEL &					
8	CASINO, Respondent.					
9						
10	Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, in and for the County of Clark, The Honorable Michael Villani, District Judge District Court Case No. A-11-641181-C					
11	RESPONDENT NEW YORK-NEW YORK HOTEL & CASINO'S					
12	ANSWERING BRIEF					
13	KRAVITZ, SCHNITZER,					
14	& JOHNSON, CHTD. MARTIN J. KRAVITZ, ESQ.					
15	Nevada Bar No. 83

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

NYNY is entitled to an Order from this Court affirming the District Court's Order granting NYNY's Motion for Summary Judgment. Specifically, NYNY is entitled to judgment as a matter of law because the evidence conclusively establishes: (1) there are no genuine issues of material fact for trial; (2) under Nevada law, NYNY cannot be held liable, pursuant to N.R.S. §651.015 and *Estate* I.

of Smith, for Ferrell's independent, unforeseeable, retaliatory physical acts of violence committed upon Appellants; and (3) as a matter of law, NYNY was not the proximate cause of Appellants' injuries.

ARGUMENT

THE ENTRY OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPER

A. Standard Of Review

This Court reviews a district court's order granting summary judgment de novo. *See Wood v. Safeway*, 121 Nev. 724; 121 P.3d 1026 (2005). Thus, this Court determines anew, without deference to the district court, whether genuine issues of material fact exist and whether the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* Summary judgment is appropriate and "shall be rendered forthwith" when the pleadings and other evidence on file demonstrate no "genuine issue as to any material fact remains and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Id.*

Here, it is undisputed NYNY is entitled to judgment as a matter of law because the evidence establishes there are no genuine issues of material fact for trial. Under Nevada law, as well as this Court's ruling in *Estate of Smith v. Mahoney's Silver Nugget, Inc.*, 265 P.3d 688 (Nev. 2011), NYNY cannot be held liable for Ferrell's independent, unforeseeable retaliatory assault committed upon Appellants, and NYNY was not the proximate cause of Appellants' alleged injuries.

1

B. NYNY Cannot Be Liable To Appellants As A Matter Of Law Because It Had No Duty To Prevent the Unforeseeable Criminal Acts of Ferrell

Civil liability of hotel owners for death or injury of a person on the hotel

premises caused by a third person who is not an employee of the owner is

governed by Nevada's innkeeper statute. N.R.S. §651.015(1) provides:

1. An owner or keeper of any hotel, inn, motel, motor court, boarding house or lodging house is not civilly liable for the death of injury of a patron or other person on the premises caused by another person who Is not an employee under the control or supervision of the owner or keeper unless:

- (a) the wrongful act which caused the death or injury was foreseeable; and
- (b) there is a preponderance of evidence that the owner or keeper did not exercise due care for the safety of the patron or other person on the premises.

N.R.S. § 651.015(1).

In *Estate of Smith v. Mahoney's Silver Nugget, Inc.*, this Court addressed the issue of foreseeability under the statute and provided the proper legal framework to determine whether the criminal act of a third party should be considered foreseeable. 265 P.3d 688 (Nev. 2011). To determine foreseeability for the purposes of establishing duty, a court must consider two distinct approaches: (1) evidence of prior similar acts in a similar location; and (2) a totality of the circumstances. *Id.* at 692. Additionally, this Court further held "[i]f any injury is unforeseeable, then the innkeeper owes no duty, and the district court has no

1

2

occasion to consider the remaining elements of plaintiff's cause of action." *Id.* at 690-691. Thus, unless a plaintiff can establish either prong of the aforementioned test, an innkeeper is shielded from liability because the innkeeper has no duty.

1. Ferrell's Criminal Acts Were Not Foreseeable

Appellants cannot establish NYNY had a duty to protect them from the unanticipated, unforeseeable criminal acts of Ferrell. First, Appellant's Opening Brief relies upon deposition testimony of NYNY security employee Glen Nulle ("Mr. Nulle") as a qualified admission of foreseeability and liability. See Appellants' Opening Brief at 15:8-25. Specifically, Appellants claim Mr. Nulle's opinion testimony binds NYNY and is dispositive of the notion the subject incident was foreseeable and thus, NYNY owed Appellants a duty of care. Id. While convenient to Appellants' predicament, their position is contravened by the aforementioned legal landscape governing an innkeeper's duty. Specifically, as set forth in N.R.S. § 615.015, foreseeability is a legal term of art requiring a judicial determination as to whether it exists in a given set of circumstances. In a liability analysis, "foreseeability" carries more weight than that of simply the word on its face as used in common parlance, and certainly more than a lay person's interpretation of the word. Mr. Nulle provided deposition testimony as to his opinions of foreseeability and incident prevention. Mr. Nulle was not testifying as to a determination of foreseeability that falls in line with the statutory scheme or with that of *Estate of Smith*, because he is not the proper person to do so.

Additionally, Appellants' assertion that Mr. Nulle's testimony satisfies the foreseeability prong flies in the face of the rationale upon which the Innkeeper Statute is founded. The Legislative History of the statute illustrates Nevada's underlying public policy that an innkeeper is not the insurer of a patron's safety. Specifically, the Legislature sought to shift liability away from the innkeeper when the third party act was unforeseeable or unanticipated. This is the same policy this Court has been developing over recent years as "foreseeability is a policy concern that limits...liability to only those harms with a reasonably close connection to its breach." *Bower v. Harrah's Laughlin, Inc.*, 215 P.2d 709, 724 (Nev. 2009). Further, this Court has clarified:

"[w]hen a third party commits an intentional tort or crime, the act is a superseding cause, even when the negligent party created a situation affording the third party an opportunity to commit the tort or crime. [Restatement (Second) of torts § 448 (1965).] In such a scenario, the negligent party will only be liable if he knew or should have known at the time of the negligent conduct that he was creating a situation and that a third party 'might have availed himself of the opportunity to commit such a tort or crime.""

Id. at 725 (emphasis added). Notably, the above standard is more broad than

N.R.S. §651.015(3)(b) which is limited to notice or knowledge.

This language rejects Appellants' argument of finding liability based upon "constructive notice" that a third party may carry the potential for unspecified violence. Otherwise, and contrary to *Estate of Smith, Wood, and* *Bower*, innkeepers would have a heightened duty to predict sudden, unpredictable violent behavior that lacked any indicator violence was about to occur, the exact duty abrogated by the Innkeeper Statute in 1995.

Moreover, the Legislature was fully aware crime occurs every day in a casino. In fact, the Legislative History revealed the Legislature considered "random, violent crime is endemic in today's society. It is difficult, if not impossible, to envision any locale open to the public where the occurrence of violence crime seems improbable....No one really knows why people commit crime, hence no one really knows what is 'adequate' deterrence in any given situation." *Id.* (emphasis added). Thus, the Legislature sought to immunize casinos from liability for the unforeseeable acts of third parties." [Vol. 1 Respondent's Appendix ("RA") at 1-6] Therefore, Appellants' exact legal argument was considered and rejected by the Legislature in the manifestation of N.R.S. §651.015. Accordingly, the testimony of Mr. Nulle is insufficient to establish foreseeability.

2. No prior "similar" criminal acts of a third party exist in this case

N.R.S. §.651.015(1)(a) and § 651.015(3)(b) increased a plaintiff's burden to establish the notice element of duty through foreseeability. The Legislature clearly intended that N.R.S. § 651.015 reflect Nevada's policy that an innkeeper is not the insurer of a patron's safety. Thus, **the statute imposes a duty on an innkeeper**

only when there are prior "similar" incidents and/or a failure to exercise reasonable due care for the safety of a patron.

Here, Appellants are unable to produce <u>any</u> evidence demonstrating NYNY has encountered an incident similar to the subject assault. In fact, in the twelve (12) months prior, there are no documented incidents of violent acts involving similar facts or circumstances as the underlying incident.¹ [See Exhibit H to Vol. II AA. at 0111-0258].

In *Estate of Smith*, security officers at the Silver Nugget asked a boisterous group of individuals seated at a bar to leave the premises. *Estate of Smith*, 265 P.3d at 689. As the group left, a verbal altercation arose between the group and another individual – the plaintiff. *Id*. The plaintiff punched a member of the group in the face. *Id*. In response, another member of the group "immediately revealed a concealed weapon and fatally shot [plaintiff]." *Id*. at 690. This event lasted approximately 10 seconds. *Id*. at 689. Plaintiff's estate sued Silver Nugget alleging negligence. *Id*. In an attempt to impose a duty on Silver Nugget, Plaintiff's estate argued that "all violent acts occurring anywhere on an innkeeper's premises—whether inside or outside the casino – should be considered similar."

¹ The majority of incidents cited by Appellants involved domestic disputes in guests' rooms, or physical altercations between security and patrons as security attempted to evict the patrons). *See* Appellants' Opening Brief at 18:4-27; 19; 20:1-7. None involved a female spitting on or at a customer and provoking a counterattack. Moreover, none involved a fight between a male and female patron. *Id.*

Estate of Smith, 265 P.3d at 692. Specifically, Plaintiff's estate referenced several "fights and robberies that occurred inside the casino within five years prior to the murder," but this Court noted the level of violence, injury and weapons used were not similar. *Id*.

Additionally, the estate also identified several incidents that occurred in the "parking lot outside of the casino" which included reports of gun fire. *Id.* This Court noted these incidents did not take place within the casino and the levels of violence were not similar. *Id.* Accordingly, this Court held no prior "similar" event has ever occurred. *Id.*

In the instant matter, Appellants allege prior incidents of "similar" wrongful acts had occurred on the premises, but offer no evidence demonstrating a single previous case of patron-on-patron violence occurring on the NYNY casino floor. In fact, <u>all of the evidence upon which they rely to satisfy this prong involve incidents that either: (1) transpired in areas of the hotel other than where the subject incident occurred; or (2) were assaults upon security officers committed by patrons during the effectuation of a trespass. See Appellants' Opening Brief at 18:4-26; 19:1-9. Appellants' argument is essentially the same as that submitted by the estate in *Estate of Smith;* all acts of violence occurring on an innkeeper's property no matter the location should be considered "similar." As previously mentioned, this Court explicitly rejected this argument and concluded</u>

the location of previous assaults is a factor rendering physical altercations dissimilar. *Estate of Smith*, 265 P.3d at 692-693.

Moreover, Appellants failed to produce any evidence demonstrating previous patron-on-patron altercations involving similar levels of violence as the subject incident. Appellants allege as a result "of the vicious and prolonged attack, Ms. Humphries suffered from a skull fracture, loose fluid in her brain, two black eyes, scar tissue in her mouth, eyebrow ridge, and nose, and continues to suffer from severe headaches." See Appellants' Opening Brief at 4:10-14. Appellants contend this level of violence is similar to other prior incidences of violence occurring on NYNY premises. However, the prior incident reports of patron-onpatron violence set forth in Appellants' Opening Brief involved the following: three (3) reports indicated injuries of "small lacerations" or "small cuts;" two (2) reports indicated injuries of "bruising;" and five (5) reports indicated no injuries at all. [Exhibit H in Vol. II AA. at 0111-0258] None of these incidents are remotely similar to the underlying incident involving Appellants. Accordingly, these incident reports are insufficient to establish foreseeability based upon a theory of "prior similar acts."

Appellants also rely upon Mr. Nulle's "estimates" that fights may occur on the "property" two to three times a week in an effort to establish "similar" previous acts of violence. Appellants' Opening Brief at 23:24-27. As set forth above, this

testimony alone does not satisfy the "prior similar acts" analysis. Specifically, Appellants' counsel failed to elicit any specifics related to the alleged "two to three fights per week," including the circumstances surrounding the fights, the locations of the fights, or the severity of the injuries resulting from the purported fights. Appellants rely only upon "facts" which lack any foundational findings establishing the subject incident was foreseeable based upon prior similar acts in a similar location.

Simply, Appellants fail to identify any prior "similar" incident in a "similar location" within the NYNY involving circumstances similar to the subject incident (i.e. female patron provoking fight by spitting on another patron). As such, Appellants cannot demonstrate Ferrell's assault was foreseeable based upon prior similar acts, and therefore, NYNY owed no duty. *Estate of Smith*, 265 P.3d at 692.

3. Mr. Ferrell's conduct prior to the subject incident did not make his subsequent wrongful conduct foreseeable

This Court has held an innkeeper may owe a duty when the circumstances surrounding the subject incident provide "requisite foreseeability" of the resultant crime. *Estate of Smith*, 265 P.3d at 692. To make this determination, the court must conclude whether the innkeeper "should have known" of a specific danger, such as a patron "carrying a concealed weapon." *Id.* at 693. In *Estate of Smith*, this Court held the circumstances of the specific incident did not establish a duty. *Id.* This is because no evidence suggested the assailant was carrying a concealed

weapon and because security was already escorting the boisterous group off the premises. *Id.* Further, the Court held no duty exists when the innkeeper takes "<u>basic minimum precautions</u> to ensure safety of its patrons." *Id.* (emphasis added).

i.

1

No information existed to put NYNY on notice that Mr. Ferrell posed a threat to NYNY's patrons.

Here, NYNY had no notice or knowledge Ferrell would physically attack Appellants in retaliation to being assaulted by Appellant Humphries' spitting action. First, Appellants argue NYNY's security policies are inadequate and demonstrate it failed to exercise due care. Appellants' Opening Brief at 25:5-28. However, this "evidence" is wholly irrelevant in the "totality of the circumstances" analysis set forth in *Estate of Smith*. Specifically, Appellants do not show how such policies are applicable to the determination of whether NYNY <u>should have</u> <u>known Ferrell would commit a retaliatory attack upon Appellants after being</u> <u>spit on or at by Humphries.</u> As such, this argument is speculative and does not demonstrate how NYNY failed to exercise due care.

Second, Appellants argue the District Court erred because it placed emphasis on Ferrell's violent propensities rather than NYNY's knowledge of the risk of particular type of danger. Appellants' Opening Brief at 27:4-5. Specifically, Appellants argue in *Estate of Smith*, this Court focused on the innkeeper's knowledge of a particular type of danger, rather than conduct of a particular tortfeasor, in analyzing whether a duty existed. *Id.* at 27:9-15. This argument is unsupported by any legal authority. In *Estate of Smith*, this Court held <u>the</u> <u>circumstances leading up to the shooting did not provide requisite</u> <u>foreseeability</u> to impose a duty because "there [was] no evidence to suggest that Silver Nugget should have known that [tortfeasor] <u>Ott</u> was carrying a concealed weapon when he entered the premises" and because "the Silver Nugget promptly deployed security to request that the boisterous group leave the Touchdown Lounge." *Estate of Smith*, 265 P.3d at 693 (emphasis added).

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